IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 85,099

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

FEB 13 1995

CHARLES KUKRAL and MILLY KUKRAL,
Petitioners,

vs.

GEORGE D. MEKRAS, M.D.; MIAMI UROLOGY INSTITUTE, INC. and DR. JOHN T. McDONALD FOUNDATION d/b/a DOCTORS' HOSPITAL,

Respondents.

#### BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON JURISDICTION

LAW OFFICES OF JOE N. UNGER, P.A. 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Suite 2920 Miami, Florida 33131-5302 (305) 374-5500 Fla. Bar No. 082987

and

LAW OFFICES OF RICHARD L. KATZ 2100 Salzedo Street Suite 300 Coral Gables, Florida 33134

BY: JOE N. UNGER
Counsel for Petitioners

## TOPICAL

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The majority decision of the district court of appeal denies to petitioners their constitutionally protected guarantee of access to the courts. Petitioners reasonably complied with the statutory pre-suit screening requirements. Reasonable pre-suit investigation was conducted under the blatant facts of this case. A verified medical opinion was filed long prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations. Affirming dismissal of the petitioners' lawsuit expressly and directly conflicts with the cited cases.

#### ARGUMENT

THE MAJORITY DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF COURT ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW IN PATRY V. CAPPS, 633 SO.2D 9 (1994) AND ATKINS V. HUMES, 110 SO.2D 663 (FLA. 1959) AND WITH OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL IN SHANDS TEACHING HOSPITAL V. MILLER, 642 SO.2D 48 (FLA. 1ST DCA 1994); RAGOONANAN V. ASSOCIATES IN OBSTETRICS & GYNECOLOGY, 619 SO.2D 482 (FLA. 2D DCA 1993); AND <u>DUFFY V. BROOKER</u>, 614 SO.2D 539 (FLA 1ST DCA 1993), THUS CONFERRING JURISDICTION ON THIS COURT UNDER ARTICLE V, SECTION 3(b)(3), FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Both the treating physician and hospital were charged with negligence in connection with the application of undiluted acid to the penis of Charles Kukral during an operative procedure. Admittedly, the notice of intent to initiate litigation did not include a verified medical expert opinion of negligence. Notwithstanding, both potential defendants conducted their own reasonable investigation and denied liability with accompanying medical affidavits. Before suit was filed and long prior to expiration of the statute of limitations, a verified medical opinion was provided to the defendants. The trial court dismissed the plaintiffs' claim for failure to comply with the pre-suit requirements found in Chapter 766 of the Florida Statutes.

In 1988, Florida's Legislature enacted Section 766.201, et seq. including several provisions providing for pre-suit screening in medical negligence actions. The intent of the legislature, stated in Section 766.201, was to provide a plan for prompt resolution of medical negligence claims consisting

of two components--pre-suit investigation and arbitration.

Subsection (2)(a)1 of Section 766.201 provides that presuit investigation shall include verifiable requirements that reasonable investigation precede malpractice claims in order to eliminate <u>frivolous</u> claims. Section 766.202(4) defines "investigation" to mean that an attorney has reviewed the case against each and every potential defendant, has consulted with a medical expert and has obtained a medical opinion from that expert.

Section 766.203(2)(b) requires that corroboration of reasonable grounds to initiate medical negligence litigation shall be provided by submitting a verified written medical expert opinion at the time the notice of intent to initiate litigation is mailed.

It was argued to the trial court, the three judge panel of the District Court of Appeal, and the en banc panel of the District Court of Appeal, that where the notice of intent to initiate litigation states that a person has suffered third degree burns from undiluted acid inadvertently applied to the shaft of his penis, an inescapable inference of negligence arises even for a layperson. The intent of the statute is satisfied by setting forth an unmistakably reasonable basis from which the merits of the claim can be investigated. What the District Court of Appeal affirmed is an overtechnical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Indeed, the merits of the claim were investigated by both defendants prior to receiving a verified medical opinion that negligence had taken place.

reading of the pre-suit screening statute not necessary to fulfill the stated legislative intent which has resulted in denying the Kukrals access to legal redress for the grievous injury sustained.

## Conflict With Patry v. Capps, Supra

In <u>Patry v. Capps</u>, supra, this Court restated the principle that, when possible, the pre-suit notice and screening statute should be construed in a manner that favors access to courts. Construing the statute in a manner which favors access to courts requires a determination that because of the obvious negligent cause and serious nature of the claimant's injuries, there was sufficient, reasonable compliance with the stated purpose of the statute to eliminate frivolous claims and to encourage pre-suit investigation by potential defendants.

Construing the pre-suit notice and screening statute in a manner that favors access to courts mandates a finding that the trial judge and the majority of the District Court of Appeal erred when the plaintiffs were denied their day in court because of an asserted failure to conduct a reasonable investigation (obviated by the obvious cause of injury) and failure to include a verified expert opinion with the notice of intent to initiate litigation. The principle announced in Patry v. Capps, has been violated.

## Conflict With Atkins v. Humes, Supra

Thirty-five years ago, this Court held that expert testimony is unnecessary to sustain a malpractice action

predicated upon negligent treatment where that treatment is clearly negligent without the aid of expert testimony. Application of undiluted acid to the genital area during an operative procedure is so obviously a negligent treatment by either the doctor or the hospital that to require a verified expert opinion to be attached to the notice of intent to initiate litigation conflicts with the statement of law in Atkins v. Humes. To dismiss a lawsuit because of the absence of the expert medical opinion and or because no reasonable investigation was conducted prior to filing the notice of intent conflicts with the point of law announced in Atkins v. Humes.

# Conflict With Shands Teaching Hospital v. Miller, Supra and Duffy v. Brooker, Supra

The decisions of the First District Court of Appeal in Shands Teaching Hospital v. Miller, supra and Duffy v. Brooker, supra, hold that failure to include a corroborating medical expert opinion with the notice of intent to initiate a medical malpractice action cannot result in a dismissal if the required verified written opinion is provided within the period of the statute of limitations. Unquestionably here the required verified written opinion was provided eleven months before the statute of limitations ran and prior to the time that the plaintiffs filed a complaint against the defendants in this medical malpractice action.

Dismissal of the plaintiffs' case because the verified written medical opinion was not included with the notice of

intention to initiate litigation directly conflicts with not only the cited decisions, but the decision of every district court of appeal that has decided the issue, including the Third District Court of Appeal. For example, see <u>Charles Maldonado v. Emsa Limited Partnership and Cedars Medical Center, Inc.</u>, 19 Fla.L.Weekly D2331 (Fla. App. 3d DCA, Nov. 9, 1994).

## Conflict with Ragoonanan v. Associates in Obstetrics, Supra

The question in Ragoonanan v. Associates in Obstetrics, supra, was whether the medical malpractice claim made in that case rested on a reasonable basis. It was argued that the potential plaintiffs had failed to make a reasonable pre-suit investigation because οf the insufficiency corroborative expert opinion included with the notice of intention to initiate litigation. A notarized letter with an illegible signature stated that he conduct of an obstetrical physician represented a breach of prevailing professional standard of care where he had been told during the third month of pregnancy that his patient had a "weak cervix" and that her mother had had two premature deliveries, both of which died. The physician responded and told his patient she had nothing to worry about. No action was taken nor advice given to the patient. The patient's child was born four months premature and while he survived, suffered serious, permanent physical damages associated with prematurity.

The plaintiff's attorney was unable to provide the name and address of the expert. The defendants moved to dismiss

for failure to comply with the pre-suit notice statute. The trial court dismissed the complaint. In reviewing the dismissal, the Second District Court of Appeal stated that in determining whether a party's claim rests on a reasonable basis, the trial court may consider any relevant evidence including inferences to be drawn from the text of the notice of intent to sue. The decision concludes that an inescapable inference of negligence arises even for a layperson from the facts set forth in the notice and the insufficient corroborative expert opinion:

"Thus, the Ragoonanan's have satisfied the intent of the statute by outlining a factual basis from which the merits of the claim can be determined.\*\*\*To bar the Ragoonanans at this stage of the proceedings from litigating their claim would be tantamount to permitting a technicality to deprive them of access to the court." Ragoonanan v. Associates in Obstetrics, supra at page 485.

For precisely the same reason, to bar the Kukrals at this stage in the proceeding from litigating their claim is tantamount to permitting a technicality to deprive them of access to the judicial system. An inescapable inference of negligence arises for a layperson, a doctor or a hospital from the bare facts set forth in the notice of intent to initiate litigation. Dismissal of the complaint in the instant case directly conflicts with the both the letter and spirit of the Ragoonanan decision.

Here, the unescapable inference of negligence arises from the notice itself.

#### CONCLUSION

A third grade student reading the notice of intent to sue would promptly conclude that petitioners' claim against respondents was not frivolous. Enforcing the statutory mandate to investigate a claim before sending a notice of intent to initiate litigation cannot be accomplished in a vacuum. The facts of the individual case must be taken into account. Rationally there must be a distinction between a case in which there is a subtle or medically complex cause of injury and the classic "amputating the wrong leg" situation. This case clearly falls in the latter category.

To sustain dismissal of petitioners' case against the doctor and hospital for the reasons stated by the District Court of Appeal not only directly and expressly conflicts with the cited cases, but conceptually contradicts every other decision which has interpreted the pre-suit screening statute liberally in favor permitting a litigant to have a day in court. For example, see Weinstock v. Groth, 629 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1993).

The majority decision of the District Court of Appeal directly and expressly conflicts with the decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal cited above. It is respectfully submitted that the petition should be granted and the cause proceed in this Court on the merits.