IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 85,099

CHARLES KUKRAL and MILLY KUKRAL,

Petitioners,

vs.

GEORGE D. MEKRAS, M.D.; MIAMI UROLOGY INSTITUTE, INC. and DR. JOHN T. MCDONALD FOUNDATION d/b/a DOCTORS' HOSPITAL

Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S, DR. JOHN T. MCDONALD FOUNDATION d/b/a doctors' hospital BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

> **PARENTI, FALK, WAAS & FRAZIER** 113 Almeria Avenue Coral Gables, Florida 33134 Telephone: (305) 447-6500

PARENTI, FALK, WAAS & FRAZIER, ATTORNEYS AT LAW

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the Petitioners' Statement of the Case and Facts. It is undisputed that the petitioners did not obtain the written opinion of a medical expert prior to mailing notices of intent to initiate medical malpractice litigation to the prospective defendants.¹

POINT INVOLVED ON CERTIORARI

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EN BANC IS IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION FROM THIS COURT IN <u>PATRY V. CAPPS</u>, 633 SO. 2D 9 (FLA. 1994); <u>ATKINS V. HUMES</u>, 110 SO. 2D 663 (FLA. 1959); OR <u>SHANDS TEACHING HOSPITAL V. MILLER</u>, 642 SO. 2D 48 (FLA. 1ST DCA 1994); <u>RAGOONANAN V.</u> <u>ASSOCIATES IN OBSTETRICS & GYNECOLOGY</u>, 619 SO. 2D 482 (FLA. 2D DCA 1993); OR <u>DUFFY V. BROOKER</u>, 614 SO. 2D 539 (FLA. 1ST DCA 1993)?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner seeks to invoke this Court's jurisdiction on the basis of alleged conflict with decisions from this Court, and from the First and Second District Courts of Appeal. The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal *en banc* is not in express and direct conflict with any of the cited decisions.

This case deals with a dismissal pursuant to section 766.206, Florida Statutes (1991), for failure to conduct the statutorilyrequired investigation prior to mailing a notice of intent to initiate medical malpractice litigation. The Third District's decision holding that an investigation as defined by section 766.202(4), Florida Statutes (1991), had not been conducted prior

¹ In this brief, the symbol "A" will designate the Appendix to the Petitioner's Brief on Jurisdiction, which consists of the opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal in this case.

to mailing the notices of intent represents a straightforward application of the statutes governing presuit screening.

The en banc decision of the Third District is not in conflict with this Court's decision in <u>Patry v. Capps</u>, 633 So. 2d 9 (Fla. 1994), because the dismissal was not based upon a technical deficiency in plaintiffs' compliance with the presuit screening requirements. The failure to conduct an investigation as that term is defined by section 766.202 (4), Florida Statutes (1991), is a substantive failure, and one which goes to the heart of presuit screening.

The en banc decision of the Third District is not in conflict with this Court's decision in <u>Atkins v. Humes</u>, 110 So. 2d 663 (Fla. 1959). That case relates to the exception to the rule requiring expert testimony to support a claim of medical malpractice where the court is satisfied that there is competent evidentiary matter to support a verdict. Neither that rule, nor its exception, are applicable to the <u>statutory</u> requirement that a claimant consult with a medical expert and obtain a written opinion prior to mailing a notice of intent to initiate medical malpractice litigation.

The en banc decision of the Third District is not in conflict with the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Shands</u> <u>Teaching Hospital v. Miller</u>, 642 So. 2d 48 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). That case did not involve dismissal under section 766.206, Florida Statutes (1991), for failure to comply with the statutory investigation requirement prior to mailing a notice of intent.

The en banc decision of the Third District is not in conflict with the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Raqoonanan v. Associates in Obstetrics & Gynecology</u>, 619 So. 2d 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). As explained by the Third District in the en banc decision, the facts in <u>Ragoonanan v. Associates in Obstetrics</u> <u>& Gynecology</u>, <u>supra</u>, are materially different than the facts in the underlying case. The plaintiffs in <u>Ragoonanan</u> actually obtained the required written opinion from a medical expert prior to mailing their notice of intent, unlike the plaintiffs here.

The *en banc* decision of the Third District is not in conflict with the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Duffy v.</u> <u>Brooker</u>, 614 So. 2d 539 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 624 So. 2d 267 (Fla. 1993). Rather, the decision of the Third District is consistent with the holding in <u>Duffy</u>, and with that court's application of section 766.206, Florida Statutes (1991).

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EN BANC IS NOT IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THE DECISIONS FROM THIS COURT IN <u>PATRY V. CAPPS</u>, 633 SO. 2D 9 (FLA. 1994); <u>ATKINS V. HUMES</u>, 110 SO. 2D 663 (FLA. 1959); OR WITH THE DECISIONS OF THE DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL IN <u>SHANDS TEACHING</u> <u>HOSPITAL V. MILLER</u>, 642 SO. 2D 48 (FLA. 1ST DCA 1994); <u>RAGOONANAN V. ASSOCIATES IN OBSTETRICS &</u> <u>GYNECOLOGY</u>, 619 SO. 2D 482 (FLA. 2D DCA 1993); OR <u>DUFFY V. BROOKER</u>, 614 SO. 2D 539 (FLA. 1ST DCA 1993)

Petitioner seeks to invoke this Court's "conflict law jurisdiction." This Court's discretionary review is restricted to decisions of the district court that

expressly and directly conflict[] with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. <u>See also</u> Fla. R. App. P. 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(iv).

Prior to the 1980 amendment to Article V of the Florida Constitution, this Court construed the "conflict of law" provision to require one of two events at the district court level:

> (1) "Announcement" of a rule of law conflicting with a rule previously announced by this Court or district; or

> (2) The application of a rule of law to produce a substantially different result in a case which involves "substantially the same facts" as a prior case.

<u>Mancini v. State</u>, 312 So. 2d 732, 733 (Fla. 1975); <u>Nielson v. City</u> <u>of Sarasota</u>, 117 So. 2d 731, 734 (Fla. 1960).

This Court has no jurisdiction to review the instant decision of the Third District *en banc* because the decision neither announces a conflicting rule of law, nor applies the rule of law to produce a substantially different result in a case involving substantially similar facts. No conflict arises by virtue of "misapplication of law" because the Third District Court of Appeal did not "rely on a decision which involves a situation materially at variance with the one under review," <u>see Gibson v. Avis Rent-A-Car System, Inc.</u>, 386 So. 2d 520 (Fla. 1980), nor did it misinterpret or misapply any rule announced by this Court. <u>See</u> <u>Arab Termite and Pest Control of Florida, Inc. v. Jenkins</u>, 409 So. 2d 1039 (Fla. 1982).

4

A. The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal is not in conflict with the decision of this Court in <u>Patry v.</u> <u>Capps</u>, 633 So. 2d 9 (Fla. 1994)

Petitioners base their claim of conflict with the decision of this Court in <u>Patry v. Capps</u>, <u>supra</u>, on the statement in that case that "when possible the presuit notice and screening statute should be construed in a manner that favors access to courts." <u>Id</u>. at 13.

Petitioners' argument is insufficient to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction because, unlike the mode of service issue addressed by this Court in <u>Patry</u>, obtaining a written opinion from an expert is not "merely a technical matter of form." Rather, consulting with and obtaining a written opinion from a medical expert prior to initiating the 90-day presuit screening period "go[es] to the heart of the presuit notice and screening process." <u>Id.</u> at 13.

The requirement that a reasonable investigation be conducted prior to initiating a claim is an essential component of the presuit screening process. Fla. Stat. §§ 766.201, 766.202(4), 766.203(2) (1991). The "investigation" which is required to precede the mailing of a notice of intent includes, by definition, consulting with and obtaining a written opinion from an expert. Fla. Stat. § 766.202(4) (1991).

Because the failure to conduct the required investigation prior to mailing the notices of intent to the defendants represents a substantive lack of compliance with the statutory procedures, it is not possible -- as it was in <u>Patry</u> -- "to construe the provision in a manner that favors access to courts without running afoul of

the goal of the legislatively [mandated requirements.]" <u>Id</u>. at 13. Accordingly, there is no conflict between the *en banc* decision of the Third District and this Court's decision in <u>Patry v. Capps</u>, <u>supra</u>.

B. The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal is not in conflict with the decision of this Court in <u>Atkins v.</u> <u>Humes</u>, 110 So. 2d (Fla. 1959)

Petitioners' contention that the decision of the Third District is in conflict with this Court's decision in <u>Atkins v.</u> <u>Humes, supra</u>, fails because the exception to the rule that expert testimony is required to support a claim of medical negligence has no applicability in construing the presuit screening scheme. The exception recognized by this Court in <u>Atkins</u> may not properly be relied upon as the basis for a judicially-created exception to the statutory "investigation" requirements. The failure of the Third District to apply the <u>Atkins</u> exception to the statutory requirement that a claimant's attorney obtain a written expert opinion as a part of the investigation required to precede mailing of a notice of intent represents neither a misapplication of law, nor the announcement of a conflicting rule of law.

There is no ambiguity in the pertinent statutes. A claimant must conduct an investigation prior to mailing a notice of intent to a defendant. Moreover, the legislature specifically defined "investigation" to include both <u>consulting with</u> and <u>obtaining a</u> <u>written opinion from</u> a medical expert. Fla. Stat. § 766.202(4) (1991). Since the legislature has provided a clear and unambiguous

definition of "investigation," the courts are powerless to find that anything less satisfies the "investigation" requirement.

Moreover, the requirement for expert testimony to support a verdict and the requirement of obtaining a written opinion from a medical expert as the first step in the presuit screening process serve totally different purposes. Expert testimony at trial serves the purpose of ensuring that there is "competent evidentiary matter upon which a jury could reach a decision" that medical malpractice has occurred. <u>Halifax Hospital District v. Davis</u>, 201 So. 2d 257, 260 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>cert. denied</u>, 207 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 1967).

A written opinion from an expert supplied in the presuit investigation process, however, has less to do with the quality of evidence upon which a jury's verdict will be based than it does with furthering the public policy goal of allowing the parties to make early, informed decisions regarding the merit of medical malpractice claims. Fla. Stat. § 766.201 (1)(d) (1991). Obtaining a written opinion also supplies the element of <u>verification</u> which facilitates enforcement of the statutory mandates. <u>See</u> Fla. Stat. §§ 766.201, 766.206 (1991).

The decision of the Third District is plainly not in conflict with this Court's decision in <u>Atkins v. Humes</u>, <u>supra</u>.

C. The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal is not in conflict with the decisions of the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Shands Teaching Hospital v. Miller</u>, 642 So. 2d 48 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) and <u>Duffy v. Brooker</u>, 614 So. 2d 539 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 624 So. 2d 267 (Fla. 1993)

Petitioners' contention that the decision of the Third District conflicts with the decisions in <u>Shands Teaching Hospital</u>

v. Miller, supra, and Duffy v. Brooker, supra, is based upon an erroneous factual predicate. The plaintiffs' case was not dismissed "because the verified written medical opinion was not included with the notice of intention to initiate litigation." Their case was dismissed pursuant to section 766.206, Florida Statutes (1991), because they failed to conduct the statutorilyrequired investigation prior to mailing notices of intent to the defendants.

The cases regarding the effect of a claimant's failure to <u>mail</u> an expert affidavit with the notice of intent do not form a basis for conflict jurisdiction because they involve the interpretation of different elements of the presuit screening scheme than this case which deals with the failure to <u>obtain</u> the required affidavit.

Unlike a motion to dismiss for failure to comply with the statutory condition precedent, a motion brought under section 766.206 is used to test the sufficiency of the investigation required by section 766.203 (2). See, e.g., Duffy v. Brooker, supra.² It looks beyond whether there has been facial compliance with the requirements of presuit screening, and reaches the question whether the notice of intent was supported by the required investigation at the time it was mailed. See Suarez v. St. Joseph's Hospital, 634 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) (wherein the court stated: "If there was any doubt as to the sufficiency and intent of the verification of [the expert's] medical opinions, [the

² Not only is there no conflict with the decision in <u>Duffy</u> <u>v. Brooker</u>, <u>supra</u>, the decision of the Third District is perfectly consistent with the holding in <u>Duffy</u>.

defendant] could have moved to resolve that issue under section 766.206 (1). . .")

The decision in <u>Shands Teaching Hospital v. Miller</u>, <u>supra</u>, arose in the context of a motion to dismiss for failure to mail the written corroboration with the notice of intent, or otherwise provide it within the statute of limitations. Fla. Stat. § 766.203 (2) (1991). It did not involve consideration of the separate question of whether the notice of intent was supported by a reasonable "investigation" at the time it was mailed. Fla. Stat. § 766.206 (2) (1991).

Neither <u>Duffy v. Brooker</u>, <u>supra</u>, nor <u>Shands Teaching Hospital</u> <u>v. Miller</u>, <u>supra</u>, address the propriety of dismissal pursuant to section 766.206 when there has been an admitted failure to obtain a written opinion from a medical expert prior to mailing the notices of intent. Accordingly, the cited decisions do not form the basis for conflict jurisdiction.

D. The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal is not in conflict with the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Ragoonanan v. Associates in Obstetrics</u> <u>& Gynecology</u>, 619 So. 2d 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993)

Petitioners' argument that the Third District decision is in conflict with <u>Ragoonanan v. Associates in Obstetrics & Gynecology</u>, <u>supra</u>, is similarly misdirected. In <u>Ragoonanan</u>, the court was concerned with the <u>sufficiency</u> of the plaintiffs' investigation. In this case, the plaintiffs' case was dismissed because they did not <u>conduct</u> an "investigation" as that term is defined by section 766.202 (4), Florida Statutes (1991), because they did not obtain a written opinion from an expert.

As stated by the majority of the Third District:

It is the plaintiffs' failure to comply with their duty to conduct an investigation as defined by section 766.202 (4), Florida Statutes (1991), that distinguishes this case from the cases relied on by plaintiffs. In . . . <u>Ragoonanan v. Associates in</u> <u>Obstetrics & Gynecology</u>, [<u>supra</u>], . . . the plaintiffs obtained the necessary medical opinion before filing their notices.

(A. 3).

There is no conflict between the decision of the Third District en banc and <u>Ragoonanan v. Associates in Obstetrics &</u> <u>Gynecology</u>, <u>supra</u>.

CONCLUSION

The instant decision of the Third District Court of Appeal en banc does not conflict with decisions relied upon by petitioners as a basis for the exercise of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. The arguments raised in support of jurisdiction amount to a challenge to the correctness of the district court's decision, without demonstrating that conflict exists.

The Supreme Court of Florida was never intended to be the final court of final appellate jurisdiction to review district court decisions which do not expressly and directly conflict with other appellate court decisions.

This Court should not exercise its discretionary jurisdiction.